
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Overview and Scrutiny Task 
Group - Highways issues 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda and Reports  
 

For consideration on  
 
 

Monday, 3rd August 2009 
 
 

In Committee Room 2, Town Hall, Chorley 

 

At 6.30 pm 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

PROCEDURE FOR PUBLIC QUESTIONS/SPEAKING AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
MEETINGS 
 

• Questions must be submitted to the Democratic Services Section by no later than midday, 
two working days before the day of the meeting to allow time to prepare appropriate 
responses and investigate issues if necessary. 

• A maximum period of 3 minutes will be allowed for a question from a member of the public 
on an item on the agenda.  A maximum period of 30 minutes to be allocated for public 
questions if necessary at each meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  This will 
provide an opportunity for members of the public to raise and ask questions on any issue 
falling within the remit of the Committee. 

 

 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Dear Councillor 
 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY TASK GROUP - HIGHWAYS ISSUES - 
MONDAY, 3RD AUGUST 2009 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Task Group - Highways issues to 
be held in Committee Room 2, Town Hall, Chorley on Monday, 3rd August 2009 commencing at 
6.30 pm. 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. Apologies for absence   
 
2. Minutes  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
 To receive the minutes of the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Task Group - 

Highways issues held on 16 July 2009 (enclosed).   
 

3. Declarations of any interests   
 
 Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any personal interest in respect of 

matters contained in this agenda. If the interest arises only as result of your membership 
of another public body or one to which you have been appointed by the Council then you 
only need to declare it if you intend to speak. 
  
If the personal interest is a prejudicial interest, you must withdraw from the meeting. 
Normally you should leave the room before the business starts to be discussed. You do, 
however, have the same right to speak as a member of the public and may remain in the 
room to enable you to exercise that right and then leave immediately. In either case you 
must not seek to improperly influence a decision on the matter. 
 

4. Draft scoping document  (Pages 5 - 6) 
 
 The scoping document has been drafted following the discussions at the last meeting.  

The Task Group will consider the draft, in particular the desired outcomes.   
 

5. Collecting and considering evidence  (Pages 7 - 42) 
 
 At the last meeting the Group requested several items of information as evidence: 

• Streetscene Services agreement (circulated by email) 

• Lancashire County Council and Chorley Council current responsibilities (outlined in 
minute 09.HTG.03) 

• Other scrutiny inquiries relating to highways in Lancashire: Highways trees and 
verges undertaken by Lancashire County Council (enclosed).  

• The remit of the Lancashire Local Chorley Committee (enclosed).    
 
 

Town Hall 
Market Street 

Chorley 
Lancashire 

PR7 1DP 
 

21 July 2009 



6. Further evidence to be collected and considered   
 
 The Group will discuss any further evidence for the inquiry, including witnesses and 

consultation, research and site visits.  Any future ambitions for Chorley will be discussed.   
 

7. Date of next meeting   
 
 Members will determine the date of the next meeting.  

 
8. Any other item(s) that the Chair decides is/are urgent   
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 

 
Donna Hall  
Chief Executive 
 
Ruth Rimmington 
Democratic and Member Services Officer  
E-mail: ruth.rimmington@chorley.gov.uk 
Tel: (01257) 515118 
Fax: (01257) 515150 
 
Distribution 
 
1. Agenda and reports to all Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Task Group - Highways 

issues (Councillor Mike Devaney (Chair), Councillor Alan Cullens (Vice-Chair) and 
Councillors Ken Ball, Nora Ball, Doreen Dickinson, Roy Lees, Adrian Lowe, Marion Lowe 
and June Molyneaux for attendance.  

2. Agenda and reports to Martin Walls (Service Manager - Streetscene Services) and 
Ruth Rimmington (Democratic and Member Services Officer) for attendance.  

3. Agenda and reports to Sarah Palmer (District Partnership Officer) for information.   
 

This information can be made available to you in larger print 

or on audio tape, or translated into your own language.  

Please telephone 01257 515118 to access this service. 
 

 
 

 

01257 515822 

01257 515823 



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY TASK GROUP - HIGHWAYS ISSUES   
Thursday, 16 July 2009 

Overview and Scrutiny Task Group - Highways issues 
 

Thursday, 16 July 2009 
 

Present: Councillor Mike Devaney (Chair) and Nora Ball, Alan Cullens, Adrian Lowe, 
Marion Lowe and June Molyneaux 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Ken Ball 

 
09.HTG.01 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Doreen Dickinson and 
Roy Lees.   
 

09.HTG.02 DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTERESTS  
 
No Members declared an interest in respect of items on the agenda. 
 

09.HTG.03 BACKGROUND INFORMATION  
 
Martin Walls gave some background on highways issues and advised that as Chorley 
was a two tier area Lancashire County Council was the highways authority.  Every 
three years a Streetscene Services Agreement was signed between the authorities.  
The agreement was in draft form and was due to be signed, but was on hold awaiting 
comments from this group.   

 
Lancashire County Council are currently responsible for providing the following 
services: work in the highway in connection with and limited to highway, traffic, 
cycling, and pedestrianisation schemes, inspection and maintenance of roads, 
pavements, signs and lighting, pedestrian crossings, speed restrictions, traffic 
regulation, gritting, funding issues, new residents parking schemes. 
 
Chorley Council are currently responsible for providing the following services: 
Grass cutting in highway verges and roundabouts, weed control in the highway, street 
cleaning, renewal of residents parking schemes, other parking issues mainly around 
enforcement, highway floral and other decorations (in consultation with LCC), special 
events ,such as ad hoc town centre markets, removal of unauthorised signs and other 
obstructions and road safety hazards, fly posting and graffiti from the highway.  It was 
noted that Chorley Council don’t provide streetscene services for Chorley Community 
Housing now, this contract was recently awarded to Adactus. 
 
Members of the public would not be concerned who undertakes work on the highways 
as long as it is carried out timely and to a high standard.  There is a need for a closer 
working relationship with Lancashire County Council, potentially a different reporting 
mechanism for officers and Councillors rather than the current single telephone 
number for the public, officers and Councillors.  The performance monitoring of the 
services provided required further consideration.    
 
Improvements could be made around keeping customers informed of the progress 
and completion of service requests and the use of postcards for “work in progress” or 
“work completed” was considered as a potential method for reducing avoidable 
contact (NI14).  Improved co-ordination of works between utility and 
telecommunication providers was discussed.  Whilst this will go on at County level, it 
needs to be shared with Chorley 
 

Agenda Item 2Agenda Page 1



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY TASK GROUP - HIGHWAYS ISSUES   
Thursday, 16 July 2009 

The remit of the Lancashire Locals Committee and the provision of information 
relating to planned road works was queried.   
 
RESOLVED 

1. The background information and discussions be noted.   

2. The draft Streetscene Services Agreement be emailed to the Task Group 
members after the meeting.  

3. Officers be requested not to sign the Streetscene Services Agreement 
until the completion of the inquiry.   

 
09.HTG.04 DRAFTING OF THE SCOPING DOCUMENT  

 
The Task Group considered points to be included within the scoping document.   
 
The following objectives were discussed: 
 
To investigate, consider and evaluate:  
1. Provision of information – Criteria for: pot holes, speed limits and enforcement 

in rural areas, residents parking schemes.  Contract performance monitoring, 
highways comments on planning applications, schedules for street cleaning and 
highways works.  Roadworks and trees on highways maintenance information.   

2. Consulting and influencing – gritting routes and grit bins.  Future service 
aspirations: reactive highway repairs, enforcement on highways, including A 
boards and illegal street trading.   

3. Communication cycles – reporting, monitoring and feeding back on requests for 
service.   

4. Anomalies – order of tasks (i.e. grass cutting before gully cleaning), gully 
cleaning both sides of the same road.  Where a section of grass is owned by 
different organisations negotiate one contractor to do all sections. 

 
Other points raised included on the Markets there are stalls encroaching footpaths 
which causes problems for partially sighted people and where tarmac is used for 
pavements moss can cause a slip hazard.   
 
Additional funds for pot holes and gritting may be available through Lancashire Locals 
in the future. 
 
RESOLVED – That the information be compiled into a draft scoping document 
by the Chair, Martin and Ruth for consideration at the next meeting.   
 

09.HTG.05 INFORMATION / WITNESSES  
 
Members requested the following information for a future meeting: 

• Current Lancashire County Council and Chorley Council responsibilities, 

• The remit of the Lancashire Locals,  

• Other scrutiny inquiries relating to Highways in Lancashire, 

• Town Centre audit Report  

• Criteria for: pot holes, speed limits in rural areas, residents parking schemes, 

• Schedules for street cleaning highways and road works,  

• Gritting routes and grit bins.  
 
RESOLVED – That the information requested be noted.  
 

09.HTG.06 DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 
RESOLVED – That the next meeting be held on Monday, 3 August at 6.30pm.   

Agenda Item 2Agenda Page 2



OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY TASK GROUP - HIGHWAYS ISSUES   
Thursday, 16 July 2009 

 
09.HTG.07 APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR  

 
Councillor Alan Cullens was proposed and seconded as the Vice-Chair of the Task 
Group.   
 
RESOLVED – That Councillor Alan Cullens be the Vice-Chair of the Task Group.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chair 
 

Agenda Item 2Agenda Page 3



Agenda Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY INQUIRY PROJECT OUTLINE 
 

Review Topic: Highways issues  
 

 
Objectives: 
 
To investigate, consider and evaluate:  
1. Provision of information – Criteria for: 

pot holes, speed limits and 
enforcement in rural areas, residents 
parking schemes.  Contract 
performance monitoring, highways 
comments on planning applications, 
schedules for street cleaning, 
highways works and tree puning.  
Roadworks and trees on highways 
maintenance information.   

2. Consulting and influencing – gritting 
routes and grit bins.  Future service 
aspirations: reactive highway repairs, 
enforcement on highways, including A 
boards.   

3. Communication cycles – reporting, 
monitoring and feeding back on 
requests for service.   

4. Anomalies – order of tasks (i.e. grass 
cutting before gully cleaning), gully 
cleaning both sides of the same road.  
Where a section of grass is owned by 
different organisations negotiate one 
contractor to do all sections. 

 

 Desired Outcomes: 
 
1. To improve the delivery of the highways 

service delivered by Lancashire County 
Council and Chorley Council for the 
residents of Chorley.   

2. To enhance the communication and 
performance monitoring between 
Lancashire County Council and Chorley 
Council.   

 

 

Terms of Reference: 
 
1. To investigate, consider and evaluate topics within the objectives identified.  
2. To make recommendations where appropriate. 
3. To report findings and recommendations to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee.    
 

 

Equality and diversity implications: 
1. Dropped kerbs generally.   
2. Excess street furniture in the town 

centre. 
3. Gritting, in the town centre and rural 

areas.  
 

 Risks: 

1. That may initially be a negative impact on 
the relationship between Chorley Council 
and Lancashire County Council. 

2. That there will be an expectation beyond 
the capacity to deliver.     

 

Venue(s): 

Town Hall, Chorley  

 Timescale: 4 months 
 
Start: July 2009  
 
Finish:  

Agenda Item 4Agenda Page 5



 

 

 
 

Information Requirements and Sources: 
 
Documents/evidence:  (what/why?) 

Streetscene Services Agreement. 
Lancashire Locals constitution. 
Criteria for: pot holes, speed limits in rural areas, residents parking schemes. 
Schedules for street cleaning highways and road works.   
Gritting routes and grit bins. 
Locality Plan.   
 
Witnesses:  (who, why?) 

Executive Member (Neighbourhoods) – Councillor Eric Bell. 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport – County Councillor Keith Young. 
Disability Forum Co-ordinator – Eileen Bee. 
District Partnership Officer – Sarah Palmer.  
Assistant Chief Executive (Policy and Performance) – Lesley-Ann Fenton.   
 
Consultation/Research:  (what, why, who?) 

Current Lancashire County Council and Chorley Council responsibilities. 
Other scrutiny inquiries relating to Highways in Lancashire.   
Contract performance monitoring.  
Highways comments on planning applications 
 
Site Visits:  (where, why, when?) 

 
  

Officer Support: 
 
Lead Officer:  
Martin Walls (Service Manager - Streetscene 
Services) 
 
Ruth Rimmington (Democratic & Member Services 
Officer) 

 

 Likely Budget Requirements: 
 
Purpose     £ 

 
Total      

 

 

Target Body 1 for Findings/Recommendations 

 (Eg Executive Cabinet, Council, partner) 

 
1 

All project outcomes require the approval of Overview and Scrutiny Committee before progressing 

 
 

Agenda Item 4Agenda Page 6



April 2009

For further information about this report please

contact Claire Evans claire.evans@lancashire.gov.uk

Principal Overview and Scrutiny Officer

01772 532422.

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 7



Contents

Background 3

Membership of the Task Group 4

Scope of the Scrutiny Review 4

Methodology 5

Findings 6

Green Infrastructure 6

Grass Verges 11

Highways Trees 16

Conclusions 22

Recommendations 24

2

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 8



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

3

Background

Lancashire County Council

has a statutory duty as a

highways authority to

maintain the vast majority of

its highways for public use,

in so doing fulfilling a key

corporate aim to make

Lancashire a place where

people can "travel easily

and safely". The County

Council also has legal

requirements placed upon it

regarding the natural

environment which relate to

another key corporate aim

to make Lancashire a place

where people can "enjoy a

high quality environment".

The County Council

cooperates to varying

degrees with its district and

other partners in seeking to

fulfil these duties and aims.

This is reflected in “Ambition

Lancashire”, an integrated

strategy for all public

providers in Lancashire to

deliver their services in a

coordinated and

complementary way. This

strategy has been

developed by the

Lancashire Partnership (for

which the County Council is

the accountable body), in

consultation with the people

of Lancashire and key

partner agencies. At the very

top of its Vision Tree,

“Ambition Lancashire”

seeks:

“To position Lancashire by

2025 as an area of

outstanding opportunity,

combining a world class

economy with a

breathtaking environment

and exceptional

communities

Lancashire’s towns, cities

and rural areas maintain

their separate identities, but

inter-dependence is

strengthened through strong

economic, social and

environmental connections”

Trees, grass verges and

landscaping on the County

Council's highways are

relevant to the both safe

travel and a high quality

environment. However,

continual budget pressures

have led to concerns that

public duties in this respect

may currently be competing

and perhaps even in

conflict.

It is a big challenge for local

government and

governance in Lancashire to

meet, or even better

exceed, the various

obligations and aspirations

around both the

development and

maintenance of a safe

highways network and the

protection and

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 9



enhancement of our natural

environment in the face of:

� continual pressure on public

budget;

� the current fight against

economic recession: and

� the rising spectre of global

warming.

At its meeting on 3 December, the

Sustainable Development

Overview and Scrutiny Committee

resolved to request the

establishment of a task group to

examine current County Council

policies regarding trees and

verges on Lancashire’s highways,

including footways along the

carriageways.

The establishment of the task

group was approved by the O&S

Management Committee at its

meeting on 5th December 2008.

The task group was asked to

report back to the Sustainable

Development O&S Committee at

its meeting on 8 April 2009

Membership of the
task group

- CC Frank De Molfetta (Chair)

- CC Tim Ashton

- CC Tony Jones

- CC Francis Williams

- CC Fred Heyworth

Scope of the
Scrutiny review

The objectives of the task group

were to examine:

� the issues arising from the

existence of trees, verges and

landscaped areas on highways

� the County Council's current

policy on trees, verges and

landscaped areas on highways

for which it has maintenance

responsibility

And to make recommendations for

future policy

4

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 10



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

5

Methodology

Witnesses

The task group spoke to the

following witnesses:

- Brian Eagle – Highways

Maintenance Manager

Lancashire County

Council

- Jane Morwood –

Landscape Architect –

Highway Authority,

Lancashire County

Council

- Ian Welsby –

Environment Projects,

Planning and

Implementation Group

Leader, Lancashire

County Council

- Steve Brereton –

Specialist Advisor –

Landscape, Lancashire

County Council

- Dave Brackley –

Specialist Advisor –

Forestry and

Arboriculture

- Andrew Richardson –

Parks and Open Spaces

Manager South Ribble

- Mark Billington – Parks

and Open Spaces

manager Wyre Borough

Council

- Matthew Tomlinson –

Cabinet Member for

Sustainable

Development

Key Documents

1. Report to O&S 3

December 2009 – "Highway

Maintenance, Verges and

Trees" by Brian Eagle and

Jane Morwood, Lancashire

County Council"

2008/9 Highway

Maintenance Plan (March

2008)

2. "Well Maintained

Highways" – Code of

Practice for highway

maintenance management"

(national guidelines)

3. Trees and Sustainable

Urban Air Quality: using

trees to Improve Air Quality

in Cities", Lancaster

University Centre for

Ecology and Hydrology

(Nov 2008)

4. Using Grass, Hedges

and Trees to protect Soil

5. Lancashire Woodland

Vision 2006-2015

6. Ambition Lancashire

7. Landscape and Heritage

Supplementary Planning

Guidance 2006 (Lancashire

County Council)

8. A Landscape Strategy for

Lancashire 2000

(Lancashire County Council)

Site Visits

The task group conducted a

roving tour of the Preston,

Wyre and South Ribble

districts to observe first

hand some of the issues –

positive and negative -

arising from green

infrastructure on the highway

Research

The task group contacted a

wide range of other UK local

authorities – both county

and unitary - to compare

their policies and standards

with those of Lancashire

County Council.

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 11



Findings

Context

As our urban landscape and

supporting infrastructure have

expanded, the issue of so called

"green infrastructure" has become

an increasingly more complex

matter. Rapid growth of our towns

and cities since the Industrial

Revolution has had major impact

on Lancashire's natural landscape.

The development of motorised

transport, and with it our highways

network, has added enormously to

this.

Adapting to this impact is a

continuous learning curve, as we

come to understand more fully the

various and important factors

involved: economic and financial;

ecological, health, sociological,

aesthetic, and perhaps even

spiritual.

The benefits that come from

developing and maintaining a safe

and efficient highways network

must somehow be reconciled with

the benefits that come from

maintaining and enhancing a

sustainable natural environment

and heritage. And this means that

decisions now must be made

about balance. Indeed, we are

often making decisions about

whether and how to insert more

nature into the built environment

and our rural landscape, as well

how to preserve and protect what

we’ve got left. More and more we

appreciate the significance of

actions we take now for our future

generations and need to factor this

in to our planning and

development policies.

Green infastructure

Lancashire's vehicular highway

corridors are a major asset to its

people. They are vital to the

county’s economic development

and well-being, providing facility for

various forms of transport in the

form of roads, pavements and

cycletracks, and space for public

utilities equipment.

But the green or “soft” part of

these highways is also very

6

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 12



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

7

important as an

environmental asset,

forming a surprisingly large

proportion of the county's

overall natural heritage,

landscape and ecology.

Highways trees and soft

verges provide a county

and indeed country-wide

matrix of wildlife and

landscape “corridors” that

must be conserved and

protected. Furthermore, and

perhaps even because of

their “corridor” nature, they

offer excellent opportunity to

promote and enhance:

� a green amenity for the

people of Lancashire

and the many health,

well-being and social

benefits that brings;

� the county's unique

landscape character;

� its biodiversity and

ecology; and

� our capacity to adapt to

and mitigate the effects

of climate change

Landscape Amenity: For

some centuries now, we

have recognised the

psychological benefit of

retaining a green element to

our built environment and

our landscape, including in

our highways. When we

walk or drive along a road

and can see trees, shrubs,

grasses or flowers –

whether that be in the

highway or in land adjacent

to it - very clear and positive

messages come to our

mind: sense of calm;

stability; just feel better;

motivated; proud. No-one

can deny the fantastic visual

amenity that the large,

mature woodland-style trees

planted by the Victorians

offer us (even though we

now know that these trees

are unsuitable for roadside

planting). Research even

shows that people behave

and interact better with

greenery around them, and

that businesses are more

likely to invest in such areas.

In Sheffield and Liverpool

EU funding has been made

available for “greening the

streets” for precisely these

reasons.

In contrast, when we enter

an area without green

amenities, it is quite likely

that clear negative

messages come to our

minds: neglect; poverty;

danger; hostility. So a lack

of green amenity can even

contribute to the decline of

an area or community.

The large areas of green

space within Lancashire's

highways make a significant

contribution to the quality,

character and tranquillity of

our landscape and the ways

that we perceive and value

it. For example, much of the

Ribble Valley's characteristic

well-wooded appearance is

due to the thousands of

predominantly native trees,

shrubs and hundreds of

miles of hedgerows that lie

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 13



within or adjacent to the highway

verges.

The green amenity to our local

infrastructure, including our

highways, is recognised formally in

the policies and commitments of

national government and the

County and district councils

relating to the:

� health and well-being of

individuals, communities and

societies.

Ecology, Heritage and

Sustainability: In recent decades,

we have increasingly recognised

how modern human activity can

impact negatively on the capacity

of the natural environment to

sustain us. Furthermore, ill-planned

development can lead to

permanent losses in our natural

landscape heritage. These factors

have led to our respect for the

natural environment and heritage

being renewed afresh. And this is

translated into the development of

national and international policies

designed to protect and enhance

our natural environment at all

levels. At the level of local

governance, this respect

amounts to:

� a developing framework of

statutory requirements,

performance indicator targets

and local aspirations, relating

to:

� ecology and biodiversity,

� landscape character

preservation and enhancement

� climate change mitigation and

adaptation

These strands of public policy are

perhaps less tangible than more

traditional matters such as

housing, economic development,

and transport infrastructure, but as

we develop our understanding of

their significance to us, so they

become an increasingly important

element of our public service

provision and make increasing

demands on our public purse.

Indeed, later this year the

Lancashire Economic Partnership,

in which the County Council plays

a major role, is required to

8

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 14



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

9

produce a “Green

Infrastructure Strategy” for

Lancashire.

Keeping the Highways

Safe: Highways trees, soft

verges and landscaping are

subject to more than the so-

called "Green Agenda". They

are also captured by the

policies and statutory

requirements surrounding

the development and

maintenance of our

highways transport network.

Essentially - and quite rightly

- our vehicular highways

and their cycletracks and

footways must be

maintained to a standard

that keeps them as safe

and efficient as possible for

those who must use them:

cars, lorries, cycles and

pedestrians. Both the

"black" and the "green" bits

need attention. On the

green bits (or “soft” estate),

sightlines must be kept

clear, space for safe

pedestrian access and

utilities equipment made

available, the carriageway

kept clean of debris, and

road signs clearly visible.

This is done in accordance

with The Highways Act

1980. In carrying out its

duties, and insofar as

budgets permit, the County

Council refers to the

Department for Transport's

(DfT’s) Code of Practice for

Highways Maintenance

Management. However, in

addition to guidance on

maintaining highway safety

standards of the

carriageway and verge, this

Code includes guidance on

maintaining the “soft” estate

of the highways in

accordance with the

requirements and principles

of responsible

environmental management.

If followed to the letter, this

Code of Practice would fulfil

the Vision of "Ambition

Lancashire" and the

corporate commitments

County Council to ”safe

travel” and a “high quality

environment”.

Budgets and Resourcing:

Under current budgetary

arrangements, work

conducted by the County

Council with regards the

protection, preservation and

enhancement of highways

trees, verges and

landscaping comes from

the overall Highways

Maintenance budget. This

budget is necessarily big,

but so is the scale of the

work that is carried out and

there is a constant pressure

in maintaining good safety

and efficiency standards

that match public

expectations within resource

constraints. These

constraints have been even

tougher since 2004, when

the entire landscape

maintenance budget –

albeit a small budget which

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 15



10

had been introduced to tackle the

safety issues presented by

highway tree planting of the 1980s

and 90s - was cut as part of the

County Council’s Decision

Conferencing process. The

reasons why this cut was taken are

not clear from the audit trail

available to the task group,

although it was tabled as an

option. Discussions with some

representatives of the Environment

Directorate suggest that, in

hindsight, the adverse impacts of

this cut were underestimated.

Adding to this pressure is the legal

requirement for all new highways

schemes developed by the

County Council – such as the

proposed Heysham-M6 link or

schemes connected to the

ELEVATE regeneration programme

in East Lancashire - to mitigate

their ecological and landscape

impact, whether by retaining

existing natural features or planting

new, replacement features in the

highways. However, there is

currently no mechanism in place to

secure long term revenue funding

necessary for the proper

maintenance of this landscaping,

which means that resources have

to be found from the existing

highways maintenance budget,

already under great strain.

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 16



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

11

In addition, new

developments funded by

private enterprise, such as

housing estates, have in the

past included substantial

planting and landscaping in

the highway. However, the

mechanism in place for

managing the commuted

sums supplied from the

developer for landscape

maintenance once the

associated roads have

been adopted does not

ensure that they are

available in the Highways

Maintenance budget when

needed. As a

consequence, it is current

practice of the County

Council to discourage

highway landscaping on

new developments unless a

third party, such as a district

council, agrees to manage

its maintenance.

Under such financial

pressure, allocation of

resources to environmental

conservation, management

and enhancement on the

“soft” estate of the highways

results in an effective

budget cut for highways

safety and maintenance

work, including work on the

carriageway itself.

Furthermore, final decisions

about whether and how

much resources to allocate

to this work is made by

Highways Maintenance

budget holders, who have

an engineering expertise

and focus, and not by

Environmental Management

budget holders, who have

an ecological, arboricultural

or landscaping expertise

and focus.

It is the view of this task

group that there is a

tendency for Highways

Maintenance budget

holders to lean towards

“safe travel” at the expense

of “a high quality

environment”, especially in

the face of budget pressure.

Changes in the mechanism

for allocation of resources

for highways verge

maintenance would go

some way to address this

bias.

Grass verges –

benefits and costs

There are nearly 625

hectares of urban vehicular

highway grass and 1100

hectares of rural vehicular

highway grass in

Lancashire. While it costs

money and man-hours to

cut and maintain, grass

verge performs a number of

useful public functions in

accordance with both

County and district council

duties and aims

In rural areas, it provides:

� extra space in the

highway for utility

equipment

� safety area for

pedestrians and

maintenance operatives

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 17



� an important part of our natural

environment, providing:

� visual amenity

� habitat corridor for wildlife

� opportunity to preserve and

promote biodiversity and

Lancashire’s landscape

character.

In urban and semi-urban areas, it

provides:

� primarily a visual amenity

� habitat corridor for wildlife

� opportunity to preserve and

promote biodiversity and

Lancashire’s landscape

character

Public preference in urban areas is

for shorter, well-clipped grass,

which has less capacity than

longer grass to offer ecological

benefits but which evokes a sense

of a safe, well-maintained

environment where people want to

live. In addition, for highways

safety reasons, urban grass must

be kept at a shorter length than

that in rural verges.

As the local highways authority, the

County Council is obliged to

ensure that maintenance of the

highways grass verges complies

with at least its statutory duties. In

addition to achieving good safety

standards, the DfT's Code of

Practice states that

"…verges should be managed

with specialist advice, in

accordance with the principles of a

Biodiversity Action Plan to meet

legal obligations, support

conservation and add landscape

value.".

The legal obligations referred to

here are the Natural Environment

and Rural Communities Act

(NERC) 2006, which places a duty

on all public authorities to have

regard to biodiversity. In addition,

the Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS)

2008, requires all public authorities

to ensure that there is No Net Loss

to its landscape assets. Both

these apply to district councils as

well as the County Council.

12

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 18



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

13

Current County Council

policy is to that ensure that

grass verges are cut at least

to highways safety

standards, and with

reference to the Council's

biodiversity duty. There is no

aesthetic element to this

policy. The current standard

for urban grass verge

amounts to around 5 cuts

per annum. The standard

for rural verges is broken

down into zones. The 1m

safety strip next to the

carriageway must be cut 2

or 3 times per annum. The

next metre width is cut once

each year in the summer

and this allows many wild

flowers to thrive. And the

outer zone is left untouched

and undisturbed, apart from

occasional winter thinning

and coppicing.

District councils have

corporate commitments to

the protection and

promotion of their “green”

environment and

infrastructure, whether for

wildlife protection, visual

amenity or landscape

character preservation. This

means that they often have

standards for grass cutting

in their district public space

which are higher than those

of the County Council, but

which reflect their own local

conditions. Some Parish

Councils have also set their

own grass cutting

standards.

In the early 1990s, the

County Council

commissioned the

Lancashire Wildlife Trust to

conduct a survey of its

roadside verges. This

survey identified 168 grass

verges as having special

status because of their

ecology and contribution to

biodiversity. In addition, a

further wildlife survey in 2007

identified 40 of those as

special Biological Heritage

Sites. All special verges

require special

management plans and

those for Biological Heritage

Sites will be assessed by an

LAA performance target.

Special management plans

may not correspond to the

general grass cutting

regime for the surrounding

area, so time and effort will

be required to inform local

people of the special value

of these sites. So far, only a

proportion of these sites are

being actively managed in

accordance with their

special management plan,

so there is still some way to

go before the performance

targets connected to the

LAA and “Ambition

Lancashire” in this regard

will be reached.

Lancashire's Highways

grass and soft verge is

managed and maintained

by varying degrees of input

from:

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 19



� Lancashire County Council –

� Highways Maintenance

� Projects Planning and

Implementation Group of

the Environment Directorate,

who ensure that the built

and natural environment of

Lancashire is protected and

continually improved. This

group works with and on

behalf of other interested

agencies, such as The

Wildlife Trust

� District Councils –

� Parks and Open Spaces

Management

� Streetscene Management.

� The Highways Agency (for trunk

roads and motorways)

Under the Lancashire Highways

Partnership (LHP), which ended in

2006, both urban and rural grass

cutting was carried out by each

local highways engineering group.

It encompassed the standards of

both county and individual districts

regarding the various functions of

grass verges. Funding came from

the County and district councils

according to their respective

standards. Since the dissolution of

the LHP, a variety of arrangements

have been made and continue to

evolve between the County and

each district council in the form of

Residual Highways Agreements

(RHAs). In most cases, district

councils are supplied by funding

from the County Council's

Highways Maintenance budget

sufficient for 5 cuts pa in urban

areas. Using their own equipment,

expertise and efficiencies, district

councils may choose to "top up"

those cuts to suit their own local

standards for parks and open

spaces. Top ups range from

around 8 to 14, according to

budgets and local preference.

The County Council cuts all rural

grass on vehicular highways

throughout the county using its

own contractor, Lancashire

Engineering Services. District

councils are not currently involved

in rural grass cutting, but some

14

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 20



Parish Councils choose to

"top up" the County

Council's standard.

Lancashire’s RHAs are due

for renewal in July 2009 and,

at this stage, it looks as

though grass cutting

arrangements will stay the

same, indicating that both

tiers of local government

believe that the current

arrangement offers

satisfactory value for money

for the public they serve. In

many cases, districts are

able make the County’s

funding for urban verges

stretch beyond 5 cuts per

annum, in effect providing

an enhanced level of

service. There are three

district councils that do not

cut their urban grass

verges. LES provide this

service and cut just 5 times

per annum. Both these

districts are mainly rural.

Indications to the task group

are that there is a noticeable

difference between public

open space grass in their

urban areas, which are cut

more often and by district

grass cutters, and the road

verges.

There are some districts that

disagree in principle with the

current arrangements. They

would prefer to see urban

grass cutting standards set

locally, but delivered out of

County Council budgets.

The problem with this is that

it does not offer opportunity

for enhanced level of

service and is, therefore,

likely to be a less efficient

use of public money.

Research into what other

two-tier authorities are doing

show that current policies

and practices in Lancashire

are broadly in line with what

is happening elsewhere.

Under the banner of a

recent policy initiative called

Team Lancashire, a pilot

project with South Ribble

Borough council is

underway to enhance public

service delivery of

streetscene related

functions, including grass

cutting. The funding for

Team Lancashire comes

from the Lancashire Sub-

Regional Improvement and

Effciciency Partnership and

the aim of it is to create an

environment within

Lancashire whereby joined

up local government

working is seen to be the

way to do business. The

arrangements for grass

cutting under this plot

project is for the district

council to carry out all grass

cutting in the area for the

same money but providing

a higher standard of service

than previously.

Input into highways grass

verge management and

maintenance by the

County's ecologist expertise

is low when considered

against the:

Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

15

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 21



� size of the grass verge asset

county-wide and the

opportunities it presents

� legal requirements and policy

commitments relating to a

“high quality environment”.

The task group believes that the

main reason for this is because of

the way budgets are allocated and

a possible bias towards "safe

travel". In addition, the green

agenda” is still relatively new and it

is taking time for the required

change in organisational culture to

become embedded satisfactorily

into how we value the natural asset

of our highways corridors. This is

being addressed to an extent by

some new funding this year from

the Local Area Agreement (LAA) to

increase progress in the

identification and maintenance of

roadside verges designated as

requiring special management in

order to meet LAA performance

targets in this regard.

Highways trees –

benefits and costs

Benefits

Trees are perhaps the most

significant element to any green

infrastructure, urban and rural.

Something about trees penetrates

deep into the human psyche and

impacts positively on our attitudes

and behaviour, sometimes in a

way that may be difficult for a

public authority to quantify but

hugely important nevertheless. Of

course, trees also perform a

number of essential ecological and

practical functions.

The many benefits of trees in our

environment, urban and rural,

include:

� tranquillity, sometimes a sense

of antiquity, colour to the

landscape

� improved mental health and

emotional well-being of

individuals and communities –

with the many spin-offs this

brings

16

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 22



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

17

� biodiversity preservation

and opportunity for

enhancement

� added value to the

attractiveness and

appeal of an area –

increased property

prices, business more

likely to invest

� cultural and historical

significance

� noise attenuation,

interception of pollution

and light, and carbon

absorption

� shade and local

temperature reduction

(can reduce urban

temperatures by 4C)

� reduction of soil erosion

and water run-off,

resulting in less flooding

In the UK, where overall tree

coverage rates are

comparatively low – 12% for

the UK national average -

highways trees form a

significant proportion of our

overall canopy.

Unfortunately, statistics for

this are not available, which

itself is a troubling gap in

our national knowledge and

our strategies for

sustainability.

In Lancashire, this

proportion is higher than

average: our overall tree

coverage is just 4.6% and

we have a comparatively

dense highways network,

often in rural areas trees. It is

fair to say that highways

trees are one of

Lancashire’s most important

woodland assets and one

of our key landscaping

features.

It is also disappointing that

there seems to be no clear

knowledge of exactly how

big that stock is, figures

made available to the task

group ranged from 130 000

to 260 000, and it was not

clear what those figures

were based on.

Highways trees have a

unique and valuable role in

our urban and rural

environment and provide

public authorities

opportunity to promote

corporate objectives relating

to amenity and biodiversity..

Benefits specific to

highways trees include:

� helping to integrate

roads into the landscape

character of the

surrounding area.

� screening traffic from

adjacent people

� replacing lost landscape

features and provide

interest to the road user,

pedestrian and vehicular

� providing wildlife

“corridor” to link

disparate woodland

habitats, thereby

retaining and promoting

biodiversity

It is the view of this task

group that highways trees

are an important natural

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 23



asset and offer important

opportunity. As such, they should

be fully included in woodland

strategies and visions. This is not

currently the case at national level,

where the Forestry Commission

has no strategic input into this

category of our national woodland.

And research of the task group

indicates that it is rarely the case at

the local government level,

especially in two tier systems.

Certainly in Lancashire this is not

happening.

Costs and Risks

As well as providing specific

benefits, the existence of highways

trees bring a number of costs and

risks that require substantial local

public expenditure and resources

to manage. These costs are not

always fully understood by the

public, often creating tensions,

especially in urban settings:

� dead, dying and ageing trees

can be a serious safety hazard

for highways users particularly

in windy weather. Public

authorities have a duty to

manage the risk from falling

trees and are required to

identify trees that represent a

hazard. However, it is also the

case that the risk from falling

trees is over-stated because of

public perceptions rather than

realities. The inspection and

management regime required

to accompany this duty is

expensive.

� growing trees can become an

obstruction especially on sight-

lines, hindering the reasonable

use of the highway. Under

current arrangements, often the

only cost-effective method

available for managing this is

regular flail cutting, which can

be unsightly and horticulturally

unsuitable

� fallen leaves (not specific to

highway trees) that block

gullies and create a slippery

surface

� tree roots can cause road

surfaces to lift and crack, and

this is especially expensive to

repair

18

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 24



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

19

� roots can also damage

essential underground

utilities equipment and

adjacent private property

� reduce effectiveness of

street lighting

� nuisance to the public –

loss of light to private

property, sticky residue

on parked cars

As with grass verges, it is

the duty of the County

Council as the local

highways authority to ensure

the maintenance of the

highways trees to comply

with statutory duties. In

addition, it has duties and

commitments with regards

biodiversity and in

accordance with NERC

2006 and the Regional

Spatial Strategy 2008,

requiring public authorities

to ensure that there is No

Net Loss of their landscape

assets.

There is a huge variety in

the age, size and species of

Lancashire's highways trees.

Whilst many trees have

been planted, a large

number are self-seeded,

especially in rural areas. A

lot of the planting that has

taken place in the past has

not been appropriate and

has led to large and costly

problems of the kinds

described above and high

ongoing management

costs. There is sufficient

expertise lying within the

County Council and the

districts to advise on what

species to plant where and

how to do so responsibly,

but currently this expertise is

not coordinated nor

sufficiently accessible to

those who should be using

it. There is scope for the

development of an agreed

guide to be adopted for use

throughout the county and

which would help to ensure

that future tree planting is

done in a way that can be

managed financially.

Current County Council

policy regarding highways

trees does recognise that

they have a visual and

environmental value,

although this task group

believes not to an extent

compatible with current

corporate commitments and

legal duties relating to a

"high quality environment".

As with verges, trees are

managed and maintained

with varying degrees of

input from a range of

County and district council

departments and the

Highways Agency.

Again as with verges,

budgetary arrangements are

that tree maintenance

resources come exclusively

from the Highways

Maintenance budget, with

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 25



the tendencies and problems that

this produces. Again, there are

competing demands on this

budget and unanticipated tree

work – which often happens since

we do not yet have a decent

inventory of our highways tree

stock and the state it is in -

amounts effectively to a budget

cut on other road maintenance

work.

There was a policy in the 1980s

and 90s to plant lots of trees on

our highways – many of them

prolific growers - but the budget

for their maintenance was cut in

2004, just as the trees matured

and began requiring substantial

maintenance.

Under this pressure, current policy

is restricted to reactive

maintenance work rather than

planned, in response to service

requests, or as a result of ad hoc

inspections. There is no aesthetic

element to the County Council’s

highway tree budget allocation and

limited regard to our biodiversity

duties: reaching required safety

standards is challenging enough

for the County Council in such a

tight financial climate

Tree maintenance work throughout

the County lies with the County

Council’s Lancashire Engineering

Services (LES), although their

access to arboricultural expertise is

weak and there are concerns that

poor decisions are sometimes

made either about maintenance or

tree removal. For historical

reasons, substantially more

arboricultural expertise lies in

districts, but current arrangements

do not make it easy to access this.

There is scope for more

cooperation between the county

and district councils in making

responsible decisions about

highways trees.

Again because of budget

limitations, current policy does not

permit for the planting of trees and

other landscape planting, unless it

is in relation to a new road scheme

or major improvement scheme in

20

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 26



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

21

order to mitigate the

adverse effects of the

works. If a highway tree is

removed for safety reasons,

it will not be replaced at

County Council expense. If

a district council wishes, it

may install a replacement

tree at its own expense and

the County Council will

assume maintenance costs

once the tree is properly

established (usually after 5

years). If a district council

wishes to plant new trees in

the highway for aesthetic or

environmental reasons, it

may seek a licence from the

County Council to do so at

its own expense, both for

installation and

maintenance.

In theory, this policy allows

for trees to continue to be

planted in our highways.

However, the task group

assesses that in practice

very little street planting is

happening because neither

the County Council nor the

districts feel they can cover

the costs involved and each

believes that responsibility

should lie with the other for

amenity and ecological

commitments, as described

in “Ambition Lancashire”

and reflected in corporate

commitments. In fact,

responsibilities in this regard

lie with both tiers of local

government.

Again, as with grass verges,

input into highways tree

management and

maintenance by the

County's ecologist, forestry

and landscape character

expertise is low when

considered against the:

� size of the asset county-

wide and the

opportunities it presents

� legal requirements and

policy commitments

relating to a “high quality

environment”.

The task group anticipates

that, under current county-

wide policies and practices

with regards to Highways

trees, the County Council is

likely to fail in complying with

the RSS to ensure that there

is No Net Loss of this

landscape asset.

Technicalities aside, current

arrangements are difficult to

defend against public

concern that in the long

term, loss of tree coverage

on the highways will

become apparent,

especially as the many

mature trees begin to die.

Such loss will have a

serious negative impact on

our natural environment and

landscape character and all

that goes with it for our

future generations.

Research by the task group

indicates that similar

highway trees budget

problems are faced by

authorities throughout

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 27



the UK. But there are some

models of good practice out there

and the County Council would do

well to look at what others are

doing to reconcile their

commitments to safe travel and a

high quality environment, looking

especially perhaps at unitary

authorities. Sheffield City Council,

for example, is proud of its green

heritage and treescape and

recognises that it is a key element

to attracting tourists and business

to the city area. It is preparing a

strategic tree policy that includes a

mapped and planned approach to

highway tree maintenance and

planting. Furthermore, budgets for

maintenance of the “black”

element of the highway are

separated from budgets for

managing the “green” bits.

Conclusions

The County Council does a good

job in ensuring that our highways

are kept safe for those who use

them. However, the green element

to the highways performs a

number of valuable functions that

are not being accorded the

importance they deserve. Our

commitments and obligations to

achieve "safe travel" and a "high

quality environment" are to some

degree in conflict, with the balance

lying too heavily towards the

former.

As a result, the aspirations of

"Ambition Lancashire" and the

County Council's corporate

commitments are not being met

as well as they might. This is

because of budgetary and

organisational limitations of the

current arrangements.

It is also possible that Lancashire

will not meet the requirement of the

Regional Spatial Strategy in

ensuring "No Net Loss" of our

landscape assets. And the

Lancashire public is concerned

that loss of tree coverage in

particular will have a serious and

permanent impact on our natural

22

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 28



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

23

environment for our future

generations.

There is some good

environmental management

work going on, including by

district councils, and some

new funding coming on

stream through both "Team

Lancashire" and the LAA.

However, there is scope for

doing things substantially

better than simply managing

the highways green asset at

minimal cost. There should

be more decision-making

input into the management

of it by ecologist,

arboricultural and landscape

planning expertise and with

more effective cooperation

with district partners.

There should be a more

planned approach to

management. As far as

possible, the asset should

be quantified and analysed,

and budgets separated as

much as possible from

maintenance of the

highways hard asset. In

addition, the County Council

must develop a mechanism

to secure long term revenue

funding for the responsible

and proper maintenance of

the existing asset and for

future planting schemes that

are part of new road or

urban developments carried

out under capital

expenditure or private

financing.

Current standards and

arrangements with district

partners for grass cutting

are acceptable and

represent efficiency. The

"Team Lancashire" pilot

project being undertaken

with South Ribble offers a

useful lead for others in how

current levels of service

could be enhanced and

efficiencies made. And there

is scope for more attention

to be paid to our biodiversity

duty in this regard.

When it comes to highways

trees, the County Council is

yet to recognise properly

their full and unique value,

and indeed the Council's

duties and aspirations in this

regard. The current policy

regarding tree planting is

understandable given the

budgetary arrangements

and pressures, but it is not

acceptable in the long term.

Better facility must be made

for planting new trees in the

highway in a responsible

way. Currently, there is an

effective stand-off, which in

the long term will result in a

significant loss of coverage.

Highways trees are one of

Lancashire's most important

woodland assets and one

of its key landscaping

features. Furthermore, they

offer excellent opportunity to

promote and enhance the

county's green infrastructure

and its biodiversity. As such,

they should be more fully

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 29



integrated into our Woodland

Vision and should be an important

element in any future tree

strategies that might be

developed.

Recommendations

1. The County Council's

Environment Directorate should

make changes that allow it to

follow more closely the DfT's Code

of Practice for maintaining the

highways in an environmentally

responsible way. In particular, it

should allow for greater input from

and sharing of information with the

ecological, arboricultural and

landscaping expertise that exists in

Lancashire. And it should seek to

adopt more sympathetic

maintenance techniques within

resource constraints.

2. The County Council should

continue with its current

arrangements for grass cutting, but

should look to the Team

Lancashire initiative in South Ribble

for how future service

enhancements and efficiencies

can be made.

3. The County Council should

reverse its current policies of (1)

not replacing or planting trees in

the highway except if required to

do so for new schemes or

refurbishments; (2) discouraging

private developers from

landscaping on new roads that will

become adopted by the County

Council in the future. This reversal

must happen only with an

accompanying change in current

funding and budgetary

arrangements and must not result

in an effective budget cut for other

highways maintenance works.

4. The Cabinet Member for

Sustainable Development should

submit a request to the Cabinet of

the County Council for the

reinstatement of the landscape

maintenance budget that was cut

in 2004

24

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 30



Overview and Scrutiny

Highways, trees and verges

25

5. The Cabinet Member for

Sustainable Development

should develop a reliable

mechanism in the budget

process to ensure that

sufficient revenue funding is

made available for the

proper and responsible

maintenance of the existing

highways natural asset, in

order to ensure that his

responsibilities for "safe

travel" and a "high quality

environment" can both

be met.

6. The County Council

should rule that any new

schemes involving highways

landscaping – funded

through capital expenditure

or private financing – must

have long term maintenance

costs factored into the

revenue budget.

7. Working together with its

district partners and other

agencies, the County

Council should:

� undertake a survey,

analysis and

assessment of highways

verges to provide an

evidence base for the

development of

strategies for planting,

management and

enhancing biodiversity

� develop an authoritative

Guide for responsible

and appropriate tree

planting

� develop a county-wide

tree strategy that

includes highways trees

as an important element

to it and allows for

greater consideration to

be made for possible

alternatives for highways

trees, such as schemes

to encourage private

residents to plant trees in

their front gardens.

� Improve access for

those that need it to

arboricultural expertise

and advice

8. The County Council

should seek additional

funding for planting

highways trees from the

"Woodland from Waste"

initiative which is part of the

new Waste Management

Strategy. In addition, the

County Council should

consider the possibility of

securing capital funding for

the removal of dangerous

trees and planting

replacements.

9. The Cabinet Member for

Sustainable Development

should lobby the Forestry

Commission to include the

surveillance of highways

trees in their regular national

inventory and make this

data available to the County

Council.

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 31



26

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 32



Designed by Corporate Communications, Lancashire County Council 2009.

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 33



Agenda Page 34

This page is intentionally left blank



Extract from the Lancashire Local Chorley Constitution  

  
1 

Section 1 – Context and Purpose 
 
Lancashire Local Chorley is a Joint Committee of the County Council and Chorley 
Borough Council. The impact of Lancashire Local Chorley needs to be focused, visible and 
transparent. 
 
As Lancashire Locals bed down across Lancashire, their purpose has crystallised.  
 
Lancashire Locals are the County Council’s key vehicle for empowering local County 
Councillors to:- 
 
1. Determine the design and delivery of local government services through its 

delegated powers. 
 
2. Influence the shape of our services at a local level by working jointly with District 

Councillors drawing on the knowledge and expertise of Cabinet / Executive 
Members and Officers in their respective councils and councillors from relevant 
Parish and Town Councils. 

 
The Local provides a forum through which the County Council can prioritise its resources 
to best meet local needs and aspirations. Meetings of the Lancashire Local are generally 
open to the press and public. Parish and Town Councillors, together with local people 
interested in specific agenda items, are able to have their say before decisions are taken.   
 
The Lancashire Local has a strong role to play as a County Council problem solving body 
for Chorley. Local problem solving is a key role for councillors as community advocates, 
and Lancashire Local Chorley can significantly enhance this role. The County and 
Borough Councillors on the Lancashire Local have the detailed local knowledge, along 
with Parish and Town Councillors, that is needed to find realistic solutions to 
neighbourhood and district community concerns relating to County Council services in 
Chorley.   
 
The involvement of Borough Council representatives on the Lancashire Local provides the 
opportunity to identify local solutions and service improvements for Borough Council 
services also, working alongside County Council services. The Local can thus seek to 
jointly deliver local government service improvements for the residents, businesses and 
visitors to Chorley. This means both Councils being proactive in bringing service issues to 
the Local and seeking to deliver local priorities together. 
 
The Lancashire Local will concentrate on the agreed local priorities and targets in the 
Chorley Local Strategic Partnership’s Sustainable Community Strategy [and the Joint 
County/Borough Locality Plan] – as far as they involve Lancashire County Council services 
or closer working between the County and the Borough. 
 
Lancashire Local Chorley will formalise its own specific working arrangements alongside 
the Chorley Local Strategic Partnership to agree how best it can support the Partnership 
and establish a regular dialogue strengthening that relationship. The role and 
responsibilities of the Lancashire Local sits at arms length from the Local Strategic 
Partnership, but supports the Sustainable Community Strategy for Chorley. 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 35



Extract from the Lancashire Local Chorley Constitution  

  
2 

Lancashire Local Chorley will deliver focused, visible, and transparent outcomes for the 
residents, businesses, and visitors to Chorley, in accordance with local priorities and 
targets relating to local government services. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 36



Extract from the Lancashire Local Chorley Constitution  

  
3 

Section 2 - Functions 
 
The scope and overall purpose of the Lancashire Local is as set out in Section 1.  The 
general remit of the Lancashire Locals is set out below and the more specific delegated 
functions are outlined in later sections.   
 

(A) General Remit 
 
The general remit of the Lancashire Local is:- 
 
1. To exercise those functions delegated to it by the County Council and Borough 

Council. 
 
2. To seek solutions to local concerns relating to County Council services. 
 
3. To express views on policy, strategy or other matters specifically referred to it by 

the County Council or the Borough Council including where appropriate the 
co-ordination of consultation with local stakeholders and communities. 

 
4. To monitor the delivery of the Locality Plan where one exists, and explore 

opportunities for joint working between the County Council and the Borough Council 
on complementary service delivery where this would bring benefits to local people. 

 
5. To advise the County Council, the Borough Council and other public bodies as 

appropriate on issues of local interest or concern which are brought to its 
attention by members, the Borough Councils’ Neighbourhoods, Parish and Town 
Councils other bodies and members of the public.   

 
6. To assist the County Council in its response to Government policy in relation to 
 neighbourhoods.  
 
7. Lancashire Local Chorley has the remit to shape and influence any matter relating 

to any local County Council service in the district of Chorley, and to discuss any 
opportunities for a closer alignment of County and Borough services in the district, 
for example joint working around regeneration and economic development.   
 
When exercising this function, Lancashire Locals are encouraged to select those 
services for shaping/influencing that are relevant for addressing local 
issues/priorities specific to the district, as outlined in the Sustainable Community 
Strategy, and other evidence based data/plans such as Parish Plans. These local 
government priorities will be incorporated into the annual joint locality plan (where 
one is to be produced) where it is considered to be a priority for the district in that 
year.  The Appendix attached suggests some of the services that Lancashire Local 
Chorley may want to consider where their Local Strategic Partnership priorities 
identify council services as a local priority.  This list is not comprehensive and is 
intended only as a guide. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 37



Extract from the Lancashire Local Chorley Constitution  

  
4 

(B) Delegated Powers 
 
The services identified below are delegated by the County Council or Chorley Borough 
Council as indicated, for decision making by the Lancashire Local, in accordance with the 
relevant legislation. 
 
In discharging the delegated powers, the Lancashire Local must act at all times within the 
approved policies, budgets and financial regulations of the Council delegating the 
functions, and in accordance with Standing Orders at Section 3 of this Constitution. 
 
There is set out below a list of the functions that are currently delegated to Lancashire 
Local Chorley.  Additional functions and matters for determination may be delegated to the 
Local in the future by Lancashire County Council and the Borough Council, which will form 
part of this Constitution. The Secretary to the Local will maintain a record of all additional 
delegated functions and will ensure that any such additions are reported to the Local at the 
next meeting after the delegation takes place. 
 
 
Highways (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 

 
1. Budget Allocation 
 
To exercise discretion for the provision of highway authority functions (except winter 
maintenance) within an annual countywide allocation to be apportioned to each Lancashire 
Local in accordance with road lengths in their area.   
 
2. Street lighting special maintenance schemes. 
 
To determine the priority of street lighting special maintenance schemes within the County 
Council’s allocated budget. 
 
3. Local Safety Schemes 
 

a) To determine the priority of local safety schemes including walking and 
cycling proposals where there is more than one such scheme for the District 
in an approved programme. 

 
b) To determine specific schemes where objections or representations have 
 been received.    

 
4. Crime reduction street lighting schemes 

 
To determine the priority of crime reduction street lighting schemes where there is more 
than one such scheme in the District in the approved programme.   
 
5. Retaining Walls Strengthening Programmes 

 
To determine the priority of retaining wall strengthening schemes where there is more than 
one such scheme in the District, in the approved Strengthening Programme. 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 38



Extract from the Lancashire Local Chorley Constitution  

  
5 

6. Gating Orders 
 
To approve the making of Gating Orders under Section 129A of the Highways Act, 1980, 
pursuant to the Highways Act 1980 (Gating Orders) (England) Regulations, 2006, where 
objections or adverse comments have been received and after a public inquiry (if any) has 
been held. 
 
7. Removal of Footways and construction of Cycle Tracks 
 
To decide not to provide a footway under Section 66 of the Highways Act, 1980 but 
instead to approve the construction of a cycle track with a right of way on foot under 
Section 65 of the Highways Act, 1980. 
 
8. Pavement Cafes 
 
To approve applications for licences for pavement cafes.     
 
9. Residents parking schemes 
 
To determine specific schemes where objections or representations have been received.   
 
10. Traffic Regulation Orders/Speed Limit Orders 
 
To approve the making of Traffic Regulation Orders and Speed Limit Orders where 
objections or representations have been received. 
 
11. 20mph Speed Limit Zones 
 

a) To determine the priority of 20mph zones where there is more than one 
scheme in the approved programme for the district.   

 
b) To approve the making of schemes for such zones where objections or 

representations have been received 
 
12. Road Humps 
 
To determine the establishment of road humps under Section 90A of the Highways Act, 
1980 where objections or representations have been received.                     
 
13. School Crossing Patrols 
 
To review and determine the continuation of a School Crossing Patrol when the current 
Patrol Officer leaves the service.   
 
14. Car parking 
 
Out of any monies which are declared by the County Council both to be surplus in the on 
street parking account and also available generally to the Lancashire Locals for the 
purpose of  highway improvement projects under s.55(4)(ii) of the Road Traffic Regulation 
Act, 1984 as amended, to determine the priority of such measures within that purpose.   
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 39



Extract from the Lancashire Local Chorley Constitution  

  
6 

15. Pedestrian Crossings 
 

a) To determine the priority for pedestrian crossings where there is more than 
one in an approved programme for the district.  
 

b) To approve specific proposals where objections or representations have 
been received.   

 
16. Bus Shelters 
 
To determine the locations of bus shelters within the County Council’s responsibility (e.g. 
on Quality Bus Routes).   
 
 
Waste Management (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 
 
To determine the location of household waste recycling centres where there are viable 
alternative site options.   
 
Lancashire Locals Climate Change Fund (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 
 
From funds made available by the County Council to consider for approval projects 
submitted by community and voluntary groups, or Parish Councils, to support local climate 
change in accordance with the criteria laid down by the County Council. 
 
Libraries (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 
 
To determine, taking into account the results of consultation undertaken by the County 
Library Service the pattern of library opening hours together with other appropriate local 
developments within existing resources. 
 
Museums and Heritage (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 
 
To determine, taking into account the results of consultation undertaken by the County 
Museums Service, the pattern of opening hours for the County Museums Service within 
existing resources. 
 
Lancashire Young People’s Service (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 
 
1. Within the national framework and corporate policies, to determine and approve, in 

consultation with young people, the priorities and deployment of youth resources 
(except staffing) within available budgets and oversee a District Strategic Plan and 
annual Delivery Plan for the Lancashire Young People’s Service, encompassing :-  

 
a) Determination of the annual outcomes expected by the Chorley District 

Delivery Plan. 
 

b) Determination of the resource allocation to each element of the service in 
Chorley, and the availability of young people’s provision within the existing 
service budget and statutory requirements, to best meet the needs of the 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 40



Extract from the Lancashire Local Chorley Constitution  

  
7 

neighbourhoods, the needs of minority groups and those of vulnerable young 
people across Chorley. 

 
2. To recommend proposals for the deployment of Playbuilders’ Funding for Chorley 

district, with particular emphasis on the effectiveness of the partnership 
arrangements by taking into account the priorities of the local Children’s Trust 
Partnership for Chorley.  

 
3 To monitor the delivery of the Annual Chorley District Delivery Plan through:- 
 

a) A six month review of delivery of the Plan. 
 
b) Ongoing local problem-solving with the service.  
 
c) Ongoing identification of opportunities for closer working between the 

Lancashire Young People’s Service and complementary Borough Council 
service activities eg – Leisure, Cultural and Arts Services. 

 
4. To work closely with the Lancashire Young People’s Service in order to make 

effective the committee’s problem-solving / opportunity seeking remit.  
 
5. To work with young people in Chorley to establish and monitor a Protocol on 

engagement with young people, encompassing the allocation of Small/Project 
Grants and local youth issues generally. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
6. To approve Small/Project Grants to youth organisations in accordance with 

guidelines issued by the County Council, following consultation with young people. 
Where the criteria for funding give priority to decisions by young people the 
outcomes must reflect their conclusions. 

 
 
Links with Local Children’s Trust Partnership (delegated by Lancashire County 
Council) 
 
To formalise its own working arrangements with the Local Children’s Trust Partnership, as 
outlined in Section 1, in order to ensure that the Local Trust Partnership and the 
Lancashire Local play a clear and complementary role in delivering quality local services 
across all functions delivered by the Children & Young People’s Directorate. 
 
Customer Access (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 
 
To approve and monitor the proposals and priorities of the County’s Corporate Face to 
Face Access strategy, in relation to its work in the Chorley District. 
 
 

A copy of the Protocol regarding engagement with young people as 
agreed by the Lancashire Local on the 22nd July 2009 is attached as 
Annex A to this Constitution. 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 41



Extract from the Lancashire Local Chorley Constitution  

  
8 

Local Grants Scheme (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 
 
To consider for approval recommendations from County Councillors for grants to support 
local groups in accordance with criteria laid down by the County Council. 
 
Local Gateway Grants (delegated by Lancashire County Council) 
 
To consider for approval applications for Local Gateway funding in accordance with the 
criteria laid down by the County Council. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 5Agenda Page 42


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Draft scoping document
	5 Collecting and considering evidence
	Constitution


